RECEIVED

Oct 11 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY FAMILY COURT  
Timothy H. Pogue, Family Court Judge

---

Court of Appeals Case No.: 2021-000030  
Opinion No.: 6065, filed June 20, 2024

---

Kathleen S. Carter.....Respondent,

v.

Joseph R. Carter.....Petitioner.

---

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Rebecca West  
HARLING & WEST, LLC  
South Carolina Bar # 68405  
203 West Main Street, Suite B  
Post Office Box 2485  
Lexington, South Carolina 29071  
(t) (803) 957-0889  
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

Michele Dahl Sturkie  
STURKIE LAW, LLC  
South Carolina Bar # 70234

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Should the Court of Appeals have valued the marital home mortgage debt as of the date of filing?
2. Should the Court of Appeals have valued the IHG credit card debt as of the date of filing?
3. Is the amount of alimony awarded to Wife equitable and justified given the evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner (“Husband”) requests review of the Court of Appeals’ June 20, 2024, decision ignoring the active/passive appreciation analysis explicitly adopted in *Burch v. Burch*, 395 S.C. 318, 717 S.E.2d 757 (2011), and valuing the marital home mortgage balance as of the date of trial rather than the date of filing. The Court of Appeals also improperly characterized Respondent’s (“Wife”) use of an IHG credit card which led the Court to incorrectly value this debt as of the date of trial rather than the date of filing. Husband also requests review of the Court of Appeals’ decision to affirm an alimony award that is punitive, not equitable, and not justified by Husband’s ability to pay or by Wife’s need for financial support.

The parties were married for almost twenty years when Wife moved out of the marital home and filed for separate maintenance and support. R. pp. 1-3; p. 131, lines 3-5; p. 135, lines 13-15. According to Wife, the marriage permanently changed in 2009 when Husband’s mood and temperament worsened after he suffered a traumatic head injury in an auto accident. R. p. 71, line 1-p.73, line 14. Neither party alleged a fault ground for divorce.

The parties’ financial partnership was traditional in the sense that Husband worked outside the home and provided the family’s financial support while Wife worked as a homemaker and cared for the parties’ children. R. p. 56, line 14-p. 57, line 5. Three of the parties’ four children, all of whom were adopted, emancipated in the years prior to Wife filing this case. R. p.

3. There was no dispute that the parties' twenty-two year old daughter suffered from bipolar disorder and required her parents' ongoing support. R. p. 50, line 18-p. 51, line 15; p. 65, lines 20-24. This marriage was Wife's second and Husband's third. R. p. 135, line 21-p. 136, line 11. At the time of trial, Wife was sixty-seven years old and Husband was sixty-five. R. p. 53, lines 9-11; p. 171, lines 19-24. Husband worked as a self-employed chiropractor prior to and throughout the marriage. R. p. 172, lines 10-22.

The facts regarding the marital home mortgage balance are not disputed. Husband remained in the marital home after Wife filed the underlying case and he paid the first mortgage and line of credit during the pendency of the action.<sup>1</sup> R. p. 136, line 23-p. 138, line 11; p. 179, lines 9-14; p. 238, lines 4-24. Between the date of filing and the date of trial Husband reduced the first mortgage principal balance by \$45,243.19. R. p. 179, line 9-14; p. 180, lines 4-19; p. 671; p. 677. Wife did not contribute to the mortgage payments after the action was filed. R. p. 238, lines 12-18. During the pendency of the action, Wife and the parties' daughter lived with Wife's mother and paid rent of approximately \$1,600 per month. R. p. 113, lines 2-19. The family court valued the marital home mortgage balance as of the date of trial, thereby depriving Husband of credit for equity created by money he earned after Wife filed for separate maintenance and support. In affirming the family court, the Court of Appeals relied on *Barrow v. Barrow*, 394 S.C. 603, 716 S.E.2d 302 (Ct.App.2011), a case decided two months before the Supreme Court held that the spouse who actively contributes to the appreciation of an asset after filing is entitled to the value created as a result of his contributions. *Burch v. Burch*, 395 S.C. 318, 328, 717 S.E.2d 757,762-763 (2011) (formally adopting the active and passive distinction

---

<sup>1</sup> The first mortgage payment was \$2,660.84 per month and the home equity line of credit interest-only payment was roughly \$433.95 per month for a total monthly payment of approximately \$3,094.79. R. pp. 179, line 22-p. 181, line 6; pp. 669-678.

and valuing an asset that appreciated during the pendency of the action because of one's active contribution as of the date of filing).

Throughout the pendency of the case, Husband supported Wife and their daughter by giving Wife cash and by paying various expenses for Wife's and daughter's benefit. R. pp. 36-37.<sup>2</sup> In the nineteen months between the filing of the case and the temporary hearing, Husband voluntarily paid Wife \$1,300.00 per month in spousal support along with various other expenses for Wife's benefit. R. p. 116, line 17-p. 118, line 20; pp. 757-779. Husband also continued to pay for Wife's health insurance, car insurance and cell phone through his business as he had done during the marriage. R. p. 200, line 23-p. 201, line 24. Husband's financial obligations to Wife and their daughter were memorialized in the parties' December 3, 2019, temporary agreement. R. pp. 35-37.

At the time of trial, Husband earned approximately \$58,000.00 per year. R. p. 173, line 2-p. 176, line 25. Wife's income of \$18,535.00 per year was made up of her social security benefit and their daughter's disability benefit. R. p. 114, lines 12-21; pp. 736-741.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the family court's order imputing \$80,000 in annual income to Husband and awarding Wife \$2,700 per month in alimony. The Court of Appeals found that "the family court was justified in imputing income to Husband because of the dramatic fluctuations in his reported income over the years." Opinion, Section IV(A). The \$2,700 per month alimony award is 40% of the \$6,666 per month income imputed to Husband by the family court. As a result, Wife has the benefit of \$278 per month more disposable income than Husband.<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals justified the amount of alimony by citing Husband's role throughout the marriage as the breadwinner and Wife's need for husband's financial support.

---

<sup>2</sup> Additional citations to the Record are contained in Husband's final brief on pages 25-28.

<sup>3</sup> Calculations and citations to the Record are contained in the Petition for Rehearing, p. 7, footnote 4.

## ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals should have applied the active/passive distinction adopted in *Burch v. Burch* and valued the marital home mortgage debt as of the date of filing.

Husband requests review of the Court of Appeals' decision to value the marital home mortgage balance on the date of trial pursuant to Rule 242(B)(3), SCACR. The Court of Appeals' reliance on *Barrow v. Barrow* to deprive Husband the value he created by his active contributions to an asset during the pendency of the case directly conflicts with the active/passive distinction adopted in *Burch v. Burch*.

Marital property is valued as of the date of filing. *Burch*, 395 S.C. at 329, 717 S.E.2d at 763 (citing S.C. Code Ann. §20-3-630 (Supp.2010)). A spouse seeking to use the value of an appreciated asset on the date of trial must show that the increase in the asset's value is due to passive, or market, forces. *Teeter v. Teeter*, 408 S.C. 485, 499, 759 S.E.2d 144, 151 (Ct.App.2014). The only activities relevant to the passive/active analysis are those which occur after the date of filing. *Burch*, 395 S.C. at 327-328, 717 S.E.2d at 762. *See also Moore v. Moore*, 414 S.C. at 522-523, 779 S.E.2d at 550 (affirming that husband's contributions to the company during the marriage were accounted for in the value of the company at the date of filing and further finding that wife's active management of the company after the date of filing was the primary factor in the company's growth during the pendency of the action).

In *Barrow*, the Court of Appeals only cited one reason for denying husband's request for credit for mortgage payments he made while the case was pending:

“[W]e affirm the family court's decision not to credit Husband with his ongoing mortgage payments since Wife vacated the marital home. Husband and Wife were living separate and apart and paying approximately \$1,600 per month in mortgage payments and rent respectively. These were the parties' living expenses post-separation and do not entitle Husband to any special credit.” *Barrow v. Barrow*, 394 S.C. at 617, 716 S.E.2d at 309.

By affirming the trial court based on the *Barrow* case, the Court of Appeals endorsed an analysis that conflicts with more than twenty-five years of legal precedent awarding the increase in a value's asset to the spouse whose efforts caused the increase. See *McDavid v. McDavid*, 333 S.C. 490, 497 n.7, 511 S.E.2d 365, 369 n. 7 (1999) (wife entitled to the increase in home equity resulting from her payment of the mortgage after the case was filed); *Burch v. Burch*, 395 S.C. at 327, 717 S.E.2d at 762 (2011) (distinguishing between a spouse's active efforts to increase an asset's value from passive appreciation furthers equity and public policy); *Abbas-Ghaleb v. Ghaleb*, 2024 WL 1854458 (Ct.App.2024) (applying the active/passive appreciation distinction and citing supporting cases dating from 1996 through 2011).

If left to stand, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case will be the first case decided after *Burch* to eschew the active/passive distinction. In addition to conflicting with *Burch*, the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case expands the application of the thinly reasoned *Barrow* ruling to facts that do not resemble those in *Barrow*. The *Barrow* marriage only lasted for five years, the parties had no children together, both parties earned substantial incomes throughout the marriage and both parties were financially irresponsible. *Barrow v. Barrow*, 394 S.C. at 607-608, 716 S.E.2d at 305. Neither party in *Barrow* paid any financial support to the other during the pendency of the action. The parties in *Barrow* paid approximately the same amount for housing while they were separated. *Id.* at 617. Here, Husband not only financially supported Wife and their daughter throughout the litigation by paying alimony and other expenses for their benefit, he spent approximately \$3,100 per month for mortgage payments compared to Wife's rent expense of \$1,600 per month.

Not only does the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflict with *Burch*, the decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *McDavid v. McDavid*, 333 S.C. 490, 497, 511

S.E.2d 365, 369 (“Absent evidence Husband contributed to the payments on the mortgage between the time of separation and the time of trial, he is not entitled to share in the increased equity.”).

2. The evidence does not support the Court of Appeals’ finding that Wife’s use of the IHG credit card after the date of filing was for marital purposes

By valuing the IHG credit card balance on the date of trial, the Court of Appeals ignores clear and detailed evidence in the record that Wife failed to carry her burden of proving the charges made after she filed the case were incurred for the joint benefit of the parties.

“When a debt is incurred after the commencement of litigation but before the final divorce decree, the family court may equitably apportion it as a marital debt when it is shown the debt was incurred for marital purposes, i.e. for the joint benefit of both parties during the marriage.” *Wooten v. Wooten*, 364 S.C. 532, 547, 615 S.E.2d 98, 105 (2005). “When a debt is incurred after marital litigation begins, the burden of proving the debt is marital rests upon the party who makes such an assertion.” *Id.* at 547, 615 S.E.2d at 105. If a debt was incurred after the date of filing for nonmarital purposes, the family court can exclude it from the marital estate and require the spouse who created the debt to pay it. *Pruitt v. Pruitt*, 389 S.C. 250, 265, 697 S.E.2d 702, 710 (Ct.App.2010) (citation omitted).

Husband craves reference to the argument and facts on this issue contained in his Final Brief. Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 24-28.

3. The amount of alimony awarded to Wife is not equitable or justified given the evidence.

By affirming the trial court’s alimony award, the Court of Appeals penalizes Husband and rewards Wife. *See Myers v. Myers*, 391 S.C. 308, 315, 705 S.E.2d 86, 90 (Ct.App.2011) (awarding permanent periodic alimony substantially in excess of a spouse’s needs is error and effectively penalizes the spouse paying alimony); *Donahue v. Donahue*, 299 S.C. 353, 362, 384

S.E.2d 741, 746 (1989) (Alimony “is not intended to penalize one spouse while rewarding the other). The clearest and most compelling evidence of the excessive nature of the award is the resulting disposable income. As a result of this award, Wife, despite not working outside the home at the time of trial, has the benefit of \$4,244 in income per month while Husband, who works full time running his own chiropractic practice at age sixty-five, only has income of \$3,966 per month.<sup>4</sup>

Husband craves reference to the law and facts on this issue cited in his Final Brief. Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 41-45.

### CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision to value the marital home mortgage balance on the date of trial directly conflicts with the Supreme Court’s decisions in *Burch* and *McDavid*. If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals’ decision would be the first published decision since *Burch* to ignore the active/passive distinction explicitly adopted in *Burch*.

Husband also respectfully requests review of the Court of Appeals’ decision to value the IHG credit card debt as of the date of trial because Wife failed to carry her burden of proving that the charges were for marital purposes. Finally, the Court of Appeals’ decision to award Wife alimony equal to 40% of Husband’s gross monthly imputed income despite there not being sufficient evidence that Husband had the ability to pay or that Wife needed this level of financial support is neither equitable nor justified.

---

<sup>4</sup> Wife receives \$874.60 per month in social security benefits and \$670 per month from ZZ’s disability benefit.  $\$874.60 + \$670 + \text{untaxed alimony of } \$2,700 = \$4244.60$  per month in disposable income. R. p. 736. Assume *arguendo* that Husband actually earns the income imputed to him of \$6,666 per month - \$2,700 in alimony that is not tax deductible = \$3,966 per month in disposable income. Husband’s stated income is only \$5,157 per month. R. p. 742.