RECEIVED

Oct 25 2024

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY FAMILY COURT
Timothy H. Pogue, Family Court Judge

Court of Appeals Case No.: 2021-000030
Opinion No.: 6065, filed June 20, 2024
APPELLATE CASE No.: 2024-001720

Kathleen S. Carter..... Respondent,

v.

Joseph R. Carter..... Petitioner.

RETURN TO
PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Marian D. Nettles, Esquire
NETTLES, TURBEVILLE & REDDECK
South Carolina Bar # 4197
P. O. Box 699
Lake City, South Carolina 29560
843-374-8511
Attorney for Respondent

Brendan P. Barth, Esquire
BARTH BALLENGER & LEWIS, L.L.P.
South Carolina Bar # 78337
P. O. Box 107

Questions Presented

- 1. Did the Lower Courts err in valuing the marital home mortgage debt as of the date of filing? 6
- 2. Did the Lower Courts err in valuing the IHG credit card debt as of the date of filing? 9
- 3. Did the Lower Courts err in setting the amount of alimony? 10

Statement of the Case 1

Statement of Facts 2

Argument 6

- 1. The Court of Appeals correctly valued the marital home mortgage debt as of the date of filing 6
- 2. The Court of Appeals' correctly found use of the IHG credit card after the date of filing was for marital purposes 9
- 3. The amount of alimony awarded to Wife was not excessive 10

Conclusion 22

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wife filed an action for Separate Maintenance and Support on April 12, 2018 seeking alimony, equitable apportionment of the marital estate, an order prohibiting the parties from selling or disposing of marital assets, and attorney fees. (R. P. 41-46) Husband responded seeking a divorce on the ground of one year's continuous separation, equitable division of the marital estate and an award of attorney fees. (R. P. 47-49)

The first substantive order in the case resulted from Wife's December 3, 2019, Motion for Temporary Relief (R. P. 35-40). The merits hearing was continued twice. The first time the matter was continued because the Judge discovered a conflict. (Order filed December 12, 2019) The second time the case was continued due to the Covid Crisis. (Order filed March 18, 2020). The case was heard on June 15 and June 16, 2020.

Immediately before the merits hearing, the parties were able to settle the issues of their adult disabled daughter's custody and support and they also agreed to place the marital home on the market for sale. (Final Divorce Decree, R. p. 3-5) After a two day trial, the family court granted the parties a divorce on the ground of one year's continuous separation. (Final Divorce Decree, R. p.30.) The remaining issues were tried before the Court which issued its Final Divorce Decree filed August 13, 2020.

Husband filed a Motion for Reconsideration on September 1, 2020. After a December 9, 2020 hearing, the family court issued its order denying Petitioner's motion on December 18, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Husband and the Wife were married on May 15, 1999. (R. p. 53 line 3-4) The Husband was forty- four years old and the Wife was forty-six years old. (R.p.53 lines 5-8) At the date of trial, the parties were sixty-five and sixty-seven respectively. (R.p.53 lines 9-13) The parties adopted four children from Russia early in the marriage . (R.p. 53 line 21-p. 54 line 4) At the time of the trial “Nick” was 23, “Bea” was 22, “ZZ” was 22 and Blaine was 21. The Husband worked as a chiropractor in Florence, specializing in acupuncture, during the entire marriage. (R. p. 56 lines 18-22.) He owns his own business. (R. p.56 lines 23-25) The Wife has a degree in psychology from Francis Marion University. (R.p.54 lines 15-20). The parties agreed that the Husband would be the breadwinner and the Wife would be the homemaker and caretaker of the children. (R. p. 54 lines 15-20) The Husband testified that these were the roles they had discussed and agreed to. (R. p. 233 lines 3-6). The Wife never earned an income during the marriage. (R. p. 232 lines 6-8) She did however help the Husband to a very limited degree in his practice on a non-paid basis. (R. p.56 lines 14-16) Raising the four adopted children presented a real challenge from the beginning. (R. p. 59 line 9-31 line 15) The Wife testified that she considered her job as Mother to be “more than a full time job” (R. p. 60 lines 16-18) Her responsibilities toward the children prevented outside employment. (R. p. 60 lines 19-21) She home schooled one or more of the children for over four years. (R. p. 60 line 25-p.61 line 20.) The home schooling began when Nick was in third grade. He was constantly in trouble at school. It was extremely difficult when all four children were being home-schooled. The parties even had to hire a retired teacher to assist. The teacher quit because the children had too many

problems. (R. p.61 line 21- p. 62 line 4.) The Wife testified that the Husband once remarked that it was always a good day to come home from work and the police were not in the front yard. (R. p.70 lines 11-13.) The Husband agreed that there were recurring issues with the children and that there were “tough times”. (R. p.232 lines 22-24) He agreed that the Wife was good in her job as a mother and homemaker. (R. p. 232 line 12- p. 233 line 6) The Husband felt that the parties did well together in their respective roles as breadwinner and homemaker. R. p. 234 lines 6-7.)

By far the most significant challenge the parties faced as parents was the mental health issues of their daughter ZZ. She was uncontrollable at times. She would scream throw things and threaten others. It was determined that she was a danger to herself and to others. (R. p.62 lines 15-25). In 2009 the parties decided that serious action needed to be taken. They placed ZZ in Wolf Creek Academy, a therapeutic boarding school, in Asheville North Carolina. This placement disrupted at six months due to her threats and attempts at suicide . Wolf Creek discharged her because they were not equipped to handle children with such serious issues. (R. p. 63 lines 1- p. 64 line3.) Following her discharge from Wolf Creek, there was a series of admissions to short-term care facilities. The Wife also researched the programs offered by the National Institute of Health for Bi-Polar Disorder. After several trips to Washington D.C., it was determined that ZZ did not qualify for their study because of “comorbid conditions”. (R. p. 64 line 4-19) In 2014, an incident occurred wherein ZZ grabbed the steering wheel from the Wife in an effort to steer them into oncoming traffic. (R. p. 65 lines 1-19)

Following this incident, ZZ had to be placed at Palmetto Behavioral Health in

Summerville, a long-term care facility. She was a patient there from 2014 to 2017. (R. p. 65 lines 1-6)

ZZ is diagnosed with Bi-Polar Disorder, Reactive Attachment Disorder, Anxiety Disorder, Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, General Anxiety Disorder and Attention Deficit Disorder. (R. p. 65 lines 21-24) She was released on June 27, 2017. (R. p. 66 lines 1-5.) ZZ was prescribed medications. (Plaintiff's Ex. #2 R. p. 288) While ZZ was inpatient, the Wife handled sessions with therapists and team treatment meetings while the Husband took care of his responsibilities as breadwinner for the family. (R. p. 66 lines 6- p.67 line 4) Due to the serious disabilities of ZZ, and upon recommendation of the healthcare providers, the Husband and Wife decided for the Wife to Petition the Probate Court for an Order for Appointment of a Conservator and Guardian prior to ZZ's eighteenth birthday. The Wife petitioned for appointment, because between herself and the Husband she had the time to handle these responsibilities and she had traditionally handled ZZ's special needs. (R. p.68 lines 14- p. 69 line 1). The Husband appeared and fully participated in the Probate Proceedings . The Probate Court declared ZZ incapacitated by clear and convincing evidence. The Wife was appointed her Conservator and Guardian. (Plaintiff's Ex #1 R. p.281-283). The Husband conceded at trial that ZZ lived with the Wife who continued to take care of her on a daily basis. (R. p. 237 line 9-19) The Wife described ZZ as a "full time job." (R. p. 115 lines 9-11). The parties stipulated that at the time of trial ZZ remained incapacitated. (Final Divorce Decree p. 4 paragraph a R. p. 4) The Wife testified that it was unrealistic to expect that ZZ would ever be able to live on her own. (R. p. 70 lines 2-6) The Final Divorce Decree recognized the agreement of the parties related to ZZ in its Final

Decree. (R.p. 126 line 8- p.127 line 3) (Final Divorce Decree R. P. 5 paragraph 12)

The Wife testified that she is unable to work because she has to “watch ZZ”. (R. p.119 lines 16-20) ZZ was very naive and subject to being taken advantage of. She was young, attractive, and recieved lots of attention from young men. The Wife had to prepare ZZ’s medications for her. She had to help take care of her personal hygiene needs on a monthly basis (R. p.119 line 16- p. 121 line 6.)

The Wife described the first ten years of the parties’ marriage as the happiest time of her life despite the stress and challenges related to the children’s special needs. (R. p.75 lines 1-13) The Husband was in a serious automobile accident in 1999. The Wife felt that after the accident the Husband’s disposition changed. (R. p. 71 lines 12-20). The Husband denied this claiming there was no medical evidence to support her position. (R. p. 234 lines 9-19) The Wife testified that before the accident, the husband was more patient and tolerant with the children . The Wife felt that the Husband developed a temper and got too rough with them following the accident. She began to fear that somebody might get hurt. (R. p.71 72 line 18-p.72 line 15) The Wife testified that, following the accident, she felt it was her job to keep conflict between the Husband and the children in check. (Tr. p. 72 lines 10-15) The Husband testified to an incident which occurred in February 2019 between himself and ZZ. ZZ had a manic episode. He admitted that he got “more physical with her than “[he]” should have”. He states that he “manhandled” her. While he denied dragging her down he admitted that “she got drug”. He explained that he was justified in keeping them from killing one another. (R. p. 235 lines 4 - p. 237 line 5). ZZ was treated at the emergency room after the incident, for an abrasion to her right buttocks, a head contusion, and a wrist sprain. (R.

p. 269 lines 5-11) At the time of the final hearing, the Husband had not seen ZZ in over a year. (Tr. p. 235 lines 1-6) Late in the marriage, the Wife felt that the Husband basically “checked out of parenting”. (R. p. 72 line 18-p.76 line 20) The Wife became very concerned about her safety because their son Nick dropped out of school and became involved in serious criminal activities. Nick moved out of the home but would break into their house and the homes of others. The Wife was concerned that Nick would get their guns. The Husband disregarded her concerns. In any event, the son did steal a weapon from the home. He became the subject of two week manhunt. Eighty police officers were involved, dog teams and helicopters were deployed. Ultimately, Nick was arrested on numerous charges. He was incarcerated at the South Carolina Department of Corrections. Nick was released from SCDC a short time before the final hearing. (R. p.77 line 9- p. 79 line 23.) The Wife felt that the final straw in their marriage occurred when the Husband took another woman on vacation with the other children. The Wife left the marital home in April 2018. (R. p. 79 lines 15-p. 80 line 1) The parties were divorced by Final Divorce Decree filed August 13, 2020, based upon the ground of one year’s continuous separation. (Final Divorce Decree R. p. 30 p. 1)

1. Valuation of Mortgage Debt at Date of Trial

The general rule is that marital assets and debts are valued as of the date of filing of marital litigation. *S.C. Code Ann §20-3-630 (A)* However, the Court in *Moore v. Moore* 414 SC 490, 779 SE2d 533 (2015) held that “certain circumstances” may justify using a trial date value. The burden of proof for use of the trial date value is on the party seeking deviation from the statutory filing date. *Burch v. Burch* 395SC 318, 717 SE2d 757 (2011).

In *Burch* the Court noted that the use of the filing date value may not necessarily result in a fair outcome if the value changes during the pendency of the action.

The Court valued the mortgage debt on the marital home as of the date of trial. (Final Divorce Decree R. p. 15) The Husband paid the mortgage payments on the home during the pendency of the action. (R. p. 136 lines 19- p.137 line 10, p. 183 lines 5-22, R p. 238 lines 1-24 and Temporary Order p. 2 paragraph 6 (a) R. p. 36) He also had exclusive possession of the home during the pendency of this action. (Temporary Order p. 2 paragraph 6 (a) R.p.36). He failed to place the home on the market as agreed in Mediation. (See Plaintiffs's Exhibit 12 .) (Tr. p. 262 lines 9-16)

Husband cites the cases of *McDavid v. McDavid* 333 SC 490, 511 SE2d 365 (1999) and *Burch v. Burch* 395 SC 318, 717 SE2d 757 (2011) as authority for the proposition that under an active appreciation/passive appreciation analysis the Husband's request for credit for the reduction in the principle balance during the pendency of the action should be granted. The Respondent argued that, the case of *Barrow v. Barrow* 394 SC 603, 716 SE2d 302 (Ct. App. 2011) is authority for the proposition that the active versus passive analysis is not the sole criterion for justifying a deviation from the filing date valuation. The Court of Appeals agreed. In *Barrow*, the Court found that the Husband was not entitled to a credit for mortgage payments he made post separation. The Court considered that each party had housing expenses post separation. In this case the Court concluded that, "These were the parties' living expenses post-separation and do not entitle Husband to any special credit". The Trial Court stated in paragraph 27 of the Decree(R.p. 27):

The Court does not "agree" with the Defendant's position. As stated above, and testified to numerous times by the parties at trial, the Defendant

was the breadwinner and sole financial provider for this family. This was the *status quo*. This is what the parties had agreed to at the temporary hearing in December of 2019. This is what the parties “agreed” to from the time of their separation in 2018. The parties operated under this “agreement” and understanding for over one and a half years before ever scheduling the temporary hearing. This is what has been the *status quo* for all of the years of the parties’ marriage. In its Temporary Order, the Court noted in paragraph eight (8) on page four (4) that his case has been pending way too long and is not that complicated, but that, in any event, the purpose of a temporary order is to maintain the *status quo* between the parties. If the Defendant had not been living in the marital home during the pendency of this action, he would have had to pay rent somewhere else for which he would have received no equity. Therefore, the Court rejected the Defendant’s request that he receive \$45,000.00 out of the net proceeds of the sale of the marital residence. The Court does not believe that the Defendant receiving the same would be fair or equitable. (Final Divorce Decree p.14 paragraph 27)

The Court of Appeals opined that *Barrow* supports the Trial Courts’ ruling. The Husband acknowledged the concept that “The doctrine of equitable distribution is based on a recognition that marriage is, among other things, an economic partnership.” citing *Bodkin v. Bodkin* 388 SC 203 694 SE2d 230 (Ct. App. 2010) (Final Brief of Appellant p. 20) Furthermore, it is acknowledged that Courts protect a homemaker’s interest by considering and assigning a value to the indirect contributions to a marriage from caring for the parties’ home which enables the other spouse to work outside the home and accumulate wealth for the parties’ mutual benefit. *Johnson v. Johnson* 296 SC 289, 372 SE2d 107 (Ct. App 1988). (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 20) Husband argues that the Wife’s services as homemaker ended at the time of separation. (Final Brief of Appellant p. 21). In this particular case this is not true. By Agreement of the parties entered into the record:

- a. The parties agreed that their daughter, namely E.A.C., born XX/XX/1998, known as “ZZ”, remains incapacitated at this time by virtue of her diagnosed disabilities and that said disabilities prevent her from financially providing for herself. As such, ZZ shall continue to reside with the Plaintiff, who

was previously appointed by the Probate Court ZZ's Conservator/Guardian, and the Plaintiff shall continue to receive ZZ's SSI check to be utilized towards ZZ's support. (Final Decree of Divorce R. p.4 paragraph A.)

The Wife was never the breadwinner during the marriage by agreement of the parties. She did not have the money to contribute toward the mortgage debt. Her contribution to the care of their incapacitated daughter did not end on the date of separation. But for the Wife's continued contributions to the adult child's care, the Husband would not have been able to continue to fulfill his role as breadwinner either before or after the marriage. Wife's full time care of the adult disabled daughter prevented her from contributing cash toward the payment of the mortgage. However, her services were in fact valuable to the parties. She deserves credit for her indirect contributions which enabled the Husband to continue to reduce the mortgage debt during the pendency of this action. The Court of Appeals agreed with the argument of Respondent that the *Johnson* case supports valuing the mortgage debt at the date of trial under the specific circumstances of this case.

2) Valuation of the IHG Credit Card Debt at Date of Trial.

In his motion for reconsideration, the Husband concedes that a debt incurred after filing but before the divorce can be considered a marital debt. The test is whether the charges were incurred for marital purposes. *Wooten v. Wooten* 364 SC 532, 615 SE2d 98 (2005). The balance on the IHG occurred during the pendency of this action. (R. p. 146 line 16- p. 147 line 2.) The Wife testified that the parties agreed that she would continue to utilize this card for charges for the psychologist for ZZ, trips to visit the other children, gas, and food. (R. p. 146 line 16- p. 148 line 19). The parties operated by agreement concerning the IHC credit card. The Husband initially paid \$500.00 on this account for a period of time after the

separation and before the Temporary Hearing, then paid less and finally quit making payment prior to the temporary hearing. The husband would make payments and the Wife would get a text alert when he made the payments. (R. p. 156 line 24- p. 130 line 23.) During the marriage the Husband typically paid \$500.00 on this account per month. (R. p. 147 lines 3-9)

Based upon the foregoing, the Husband does not deny that prior to the Temporary Hearing he was aware of this account and that he made payments on this account. But for his doing so, the parties would have had a Temporary Hearing earlier. The Temporary Order continued the \$500.00 per month payment arrangement on this account (Temporary Order filed January 15, 2020 R. p. 39 paragraph 11 and p. 40 paragraph 4.) The Court found as a fact in the Decree that:

47. As to the IHG Credit Card, the Court finds that the current balance on the IHG Credit Card is marital in nature. Although the Defendant testified that this card had a balance of zero at the time of filing, there was ample testimony and evidence at trial that the Plaintiff continued to utilize this card during the pendency of this case in a similar manner to how the parties had always utilized this card- including for medical bills and gas. There was also evidence and testimony that the parties had agreed during this case that the Plaintiff could utilize this card for certain charges and expenses during the pendency of this action. Taking all of this evidence and testimony into consideration, the Court finds that the current balance of \$6,120.00 is a marital debt...

The lower courts were correct in utilizing the balance on the credit card at the time of the trial.

3) The Alimony award to the Wife was not excessive

Appellant argues that the Alimony award herein is excessive. The determination of whether a spouse is entitled to alimony and the amount thereof is a matter vested in the sound discretion of the Family Court. *Smith v. Smith 264 SC 624, 216 SE 2d 541 (1975.)*

The Family Court only abuses its discretion when its determination is controlled by an error of law or is based upon factual findings which have no support in the record. *Degenhart v. Burriss* 360 SC 497, 602 SE 2d 96 (Ct. App. 2004) The goal in the award of alimony is to place the supported spouse, as nearly as possible, in the same position of support established during the marriage. *Johnson v. Johnson* 296 SC 289, 372 SE 2d 107 (Ct. App. 1988). If the supported spouse shows that the claim for alimony is justified, the Family Court must make “an alimony award that is fit, equitable, and just”. *Allen v. Allen* 347 SC 177, 554 SE 2d 421 (Ct. App. 2001). According to S.C. Code of Laws §20-3-130 (c) (1976, as amended) the Court is required to consider and give weight in such proportion as the Family Court deems appropriate, to the thirteen statutory factors.

In this case, the Family Court detailed its position as to each of the statutory factors. (Final Divorce R. p. 21-25 and 8-13) In the decision of *Reiss v. Reiss* 392 SC 198, 708 SE 2d 799 (Ct. App 2011) the Court of Appeals noted:

In reviewing an award of alimony, we do not reweight the statutory factors; rather our review is limited to determining whether the family court abused its discretion. See *Bodkin v. Bodkin*, 388 S.C. 203, 217, 694 S.E. 2d 230, 238 (Ct. App. 2010). Here, the family court listed each factor it was required to consider pursuant to section 20-3-130 (C) and made findings of fact supported by evidence in the record and conclusions of law regarding each factor. Accordingly, we find the family court did not abuse its discretion in awarding alimony or in determining the amount of alimony. *Id.* (finding the family court did not abuse its discretion in awarding alimony when it “made findings of fact on all of the relevant factors, and the record contained evidence to support each of those findings).

Appellant takes issue with the Court’s factual findings as to his income. (Final Brief of Appellant p. 32) The Trial Court found as a fact that “in the several years prior to

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